Case No. 83557

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 02 2022 05:55 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

ETHAN BRYAN; and NOLAN HAIRR,

Respondents.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable NANCY L. ALLF, District Judge District Court Case No. A-14-700018-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376) DAN R. WAITE (SBN 4078) JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492) BRIAN D. BLAKLEY (SBN 13,074) ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13,250) LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP 3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 (702) 949-8200

Attorneys for Appellant

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Clark County School District (CCSD) appeals from a final judgment under Title IX¹ and an order awarding attorney's fees. NRAP 3A(b)(1), (8). Plaintiffs served written notice of the judgment's entry on September 17, 2021, and CCSD timely appealed on October 4. (12 App. 2813, 2815.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal. It is familiar with the facts and legal issues in *Clark County School District v. Bryan*, 136 Nev. 689, 478 P.3d 344 (2020). Following reversal and remand, the district court entered a substantially identical judgment. As a result, this appeal raises not only the same substantive issues as in the prior appeal, but also the inconsistency of the district court's judgment with this Court's opinion and mandate.

PRINCIPAL ISSUES PRESENTED

 In its prior opinion, this Court held that the existing record did not support Title IX liability but remanded for "additional findings."
The district court instead reentered the same findings as before. Does

¹ Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 targets institutional discrimination "on the basis of sex." 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a).

this identical factual record now establish Title IX liability, and is the district court's reimposition of Title IX liability without additional findings consistent with this Court's mandate?

2. To evaluate deliberate indifference, is the appropriate standard whether the actions of individual school employees were "reasonable under the circumstances," as the district court held, or does Title IX require an official decision by the school district that is "more than negligent" and "*clearly* unreasonable in light of the *known* circumstances," as this Court held in the prior opinion?

3. Does the record here establish deliberate indifference, considering the affirmative acts that school administrators took to address the students' bullying and the students' subsequent reports that the bullying had stopped?

4. In its prior opinion, this Court held that the district court "failed to properly analyze" whether CCSD made plaintiffs "more vulnerable to harassment." On remand, plaintiffs presented no evidence and proposed no additional findings, and the district court again ignored this causation element. Was the district court justified in reimposing Title IX liability without a finding of causation?

xii

5. In its prior opinion, this Court expressed several concerns with the damages award. Was it appropriate for the district court to disregard this Court's instructions and reenter the identical award based on the same prohibited considerations?

6. Did the district court properly award attorney's fees in excess of the plaintiffs' limited success and at substantially higher than prevailing hourly rates?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered—on remand from this Court—in the Eighth Judicial District Court, before the Honorable Nancy Allf, District Judge.

Plaintiffs Ethan Bryan and Nolan Hairr each tried claims under Title IX and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against a single defendant, CCSD. Both plaintiffs alleged that CCSD failed to respond adequately to reports of student-on-student bullying against plaintiffs. Following a bench trial, the district court ruled that Ethan and Nolan each proved their Title IX and § 1983 claims.

On appeal, this Court reversed the judgment on both claims. *Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Bryan*, 136 Nev. 689, 701, 478 P.3d 344, 359 (2020) ("*Bryan*"). Specifically, it reversed the § 1983 claim outright, and it reversed and remanded the Title IX claim for lack of adequate findings on the "deliberate indifference" element. *Id.* at 359.

With respect to the Title IX claim, this Court first held that CCSD's actions (or inactions) in September 2011 could not meet the "exacting standard" for deliberate indifference. *Id.* at 358-59. Then, it held that the district court "bypassed" key factual issues with respect to

CCSD's actions in and after October 2011 and that its findings concerning those actions were insufficient to establish deliberate indifference or causation. *Id.* at 359. For those reasons, this Court reversed the Title IX claim "insofar as it was based upon the September complaint but remand[ed] for *additional findings* as to whether the events following the October report constituted deliberate indifference under the applicable federal standards." *Id.* (emphasis added).

On remand, however, the district court made no "additional findings" whatsoever—let alone any "additional findings" concerning "the events following the October report." *Id.* Quite the opposite, it simply re-entered the *same factual findings*—largely word-for-word—after plaintiffs proposed them again. *See infra* n.4. Those findings were insufficient to establish deliberate indifference when this Court rejected them before, and they remain insufficient now.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This Court recited the relevant facts in its prior opinion, *Bryan*, 136 Nev. at 690-92, 478 P.3d at 351-53, and CCSD summarizes only the necessary portions of that discussion here.

 $\mathbf{2}$

A. <u>Facts</u>

In the fall of 2011, Ethan and Nolan were sixth-graders at Greenspun Junior High, where they played the trombone in the band class. *Id.* Early in the school year, fellow trombone players C. and D. bullied Nolan by calling him homophobic names and touching his hair. *Id.* Once the bullying started, Nolan reported it to the dean. *Id.*

In mid-September, "C., who sat next to Nolan in band, called Nolan a tattletale and stabbed him in the groin with a pencil, commenting he wanted to know if Nolan was a boy or a girl." *Id.* Nolan believed that C. was retaliating for the earlier report to the dean. *Id.*

On September 15, Ethan's mother, Mary, sent an email to school staff to report the bullying directed toward Nolan, but she did not mention any homophobic slurs. *Id.* In response to Mary's email, the "band teacher spoke with C. and D. and rearranged the trombone section, and the school counselor met with Nolan, who stated he was fine." *Id.*

Nolan's mother, Aimee, learned about the bullying shortly thereafter, and on September 22, she spoke with both the dean and the vice principal. *Id.* In response, "the school counselor again met with Nolan and walked Nolan to the dean's office, encouraging him to file a report

of the stabbing and other bullying." *Id.* At that point, "Nolan filed a report stating that C. was messing with his hair, blowing air in his face, kicking his instrument, and calling him and other students names like 'duckbill Dave." *Id.* However, "Nolan did not report the stabbing or the homophobic slurs." *Id.* In response to Nolan's report, "[t]he dean met with C. and his mother in late September to discuss the school's hands-off policy for students and to prohibit C. from name-calling." *Id.*

Despite the efforts of the band teacher, the counselor, and the dean, C. and D. continued to bully Nolan. *Id.* Further, they began targeting Ethan and Nolan, jointly, with homophobic slurs and other misconduct. *Id.* Until then, Ethan had not been a target. *Id.*

On October 18, C. scratched Ethan's leg with a trombone. *Id.* That night, Ethan reported the bullying—including the homophobic slurs and statements—to his mother, Mary. *Id.*

On October 19, Mary emailed school staff again. In that email, she reported the trombone-scratching incident, referenced her September 15 email, and stated that C. and D. continued to bully Ethan and Nolan. *Id.* As with her prior email, however, the October 19 email "omitted mention of the homophobic conduct." *Id.* The same day, Mary also met

with the dean and informed the dean of the full extent of the harassment, including the homophobic slurs. *Id*.

At trial, there was varied testimony as to the school staff's exact response to Mary's October 19 report. *Id.* at 352, 359. No school administrator could recall "conducting an investigation complying with NRS 388.1351." *Id.*

Following Mary's October 19 email, "C. D. continued to call Ethan and Nolan names." *Id.* at 352. As time passed, Ethan and Nolan showed signs of stress and eventually stopped attending class. *Id.* Then, in early 2012, the boys withdrew from Greenspun entirely, transferring first to a tuition-free charter school and later to tuition-charging private schools. *Id.* (*See also* 5 App. 1235:2–1236:5; 4 App. 826:23–827:15, 829:3–14, 885:21–887:25; 3 App. 531:10–12; 5 App. 1235:20–21.)

Following Ethan and Nolan's withdrawal, Mary sent a third email to school staff, and—for the first time—she copied district officials. *Bryan*, 478 P.3d at 352. In response to this email, a district supervisor directed the Greenspun principal to suspend C. and D., which he did. *Id*.

 $\mathbf{5}$

B. <u>The First Judgment</u>

In November 2016, plaintiffs went to trial on their Title IX and § 1983 claims against CCSD. *Id*.² After a five-day bench trial, the district court entered judgment for plaintiffs on both claims. *Id*.

Each claim required proof that CCSD responded to the known circumstances with "deliberate indifference." *E.g.*, *id.* at 356-59, n.8. The district court found this "deliberate indifference" element satisfied because school staff failed to conduct the investigation required by NRS 388.1351. *Id.* at 352, 358-59. Specifically, it found "that the school's violation of a state statute constituted *per se* deliberate indifference." *Id.* at 359. With this finding, the district court failed—as this Court later explained—to actually address the stringent, federal standard for deliberate indifference. *Id.* In this Court's words, the district court "bypassed the key questions of whether the evidence demonstrated [1] CCSD was <u>more than negligent</u>, [2] that its inaction was <u>clearly unreasonable in</u> <u>light of the known circumstances</u>, and [3] that its inaction <u>caused</u> the

² Prior to trial, the district court dismissed plaintiffs' four other claims and a total of 19 other defendants.

boys to either undergo harassment or be more vulnerable to it." *Id*. (emphases added) (collecting cases).

The district court awarded \$200,000 to each boy, relying on a settlement agreement in an unrelated federal case and the plaintiffs' own speculation as to the value of their out-of-pocket expenses. *Id.* at 353, 361 n.11.³ The district court also awarded attorney's fees and costs. *Id.* at 353.

C. <u>The First Appeal</u>

On appeal, this Court reversed judgment on the § 1983 claim entirely. Then, it reversed judgment on the Title IX claim "insofar as it was based upon the September complaint but remand[ed] for additional findings as to whether the events following the October report constituted deliberate indifference under the applicable federal standards." *Id.* at 359 (emphasis added).

In reaching this decision, this Court first explained the stringent, federal standard for deliberate indifference. *Id.* at 356-59 (collecting and

³ This Court's opinion mistakenly states that the district court awarded \$600,000 apiece. *Id.* at 353. Plaintiffs' proposed judgment states that amount, but the district court crossed it out and interlineated \$200,000. (8 App. 1972:25.)

explaining authorities). Then, it held that "to the extent the district court found deliberate indifference based upon CCSD's action or inaction in September, that finding is not supported by the record." *Id.* at 358-59.

However, it ruled that CCSD's response to the October report presented "a closer call," as the district court had failed to make the key factual findings with respect to that response. *Id.* Accordingly, this Court sent the case back to give the district court another opportunity to make—if possible—the "additional" factual findings necessary to establish that CCSD responded with deliberate indifference. *Id.*

As guidance for remand, this Court also noted "several concerns with the damages award." This Court explained that plaintiffs had "merely speculated to their out-of-pocket expenses, and the record does not support the district court's calculation for five years of out-of-pocket expenses for each boy." This Court was "also troubled by the district court's reliance on a settlement agreement in an unrelated federal case to calculate physical and emotional distress damages." *Id.* This Court cautioned that "damages cannot be merely speculative or simply based on another case's settlement agreement" and suggested that plaintiffs

may have a "duty to mitigate damages." *Id.* (citing *Frantz v. Johnson*, 116 Nev. 455, 469, 999 P.2d 351, 360 (2000) and 2 CIV. ACTIONS AGAINST STATE & LOCAL GOV'T § 13:15 (2d ed. 2002)).

D. <u>The Judgment on Remand</u>

On remand, however, the district court did not make any "addi-

tional" factual findings at all. Rather, except for minor changes,⁴ the

- Heading A: "they began" is (inadvertently) changed to "the began" [*sic*]. (8 App. 1955, 10 App. 2498.)
- ¶ 1: "began" is changed to "begin" (though the rest of the findings remain in past tense). (8 App. 1955, 10 App. 2498.)
- ¶ 16: the participial phrase "complaining about the bullying and specifically about the stabbing" is relocated to the beginning of the sentence:

On September 15, 2011, Mary Bryan sent an email <u>complaining about the bullying and specifically</u> <u>about the stabbing</u> to three people: 1) Principal Warren McKay; 2) band teacher Robert Beasley; and 3) school counselor John Halpin[, <u>complaining about the</u> <u>bullying and specifically about the stabbing</u>].

(8 App. 1956, 10 App. 2500.)

• ¶ 31: "Nolan's mother made several phone calls to various school officials" is changed to "Nolan's mother made various phone calls," omitting to whom; in the next sentence "She" (referring to Nolan's mother) is inexplicably changed to "They." (8 App. 1958, 11 App. 2502.)

⁴ The revised findings add paragraphing and paragraph numbers, change the bullies' initials from "CL" and "DM" to "C" and "D" (¶¶ 3, 4, 7, 12, 21, 24, 25, 31, 42, 45, 57), and make the following changes:

- ¶ 35: "corroborated" is changed to "corroborate" [*sic*]. (8 App. 1959, 11 App. 2503.)
- ¶ 38: Previously, Nolan "wrote" an innocuous version of events in his incident report; in the revised findings, he "left" an innocuous version. (8 App. 1959, 11 App. 2503.)
- ¶ 40: "Dean Winn said testified did not learn" [*sic*] is corrected to "Dean Winn said she did not learn" (8 App. 1960, 11 App. 2503.)
- ¶ 42: "homosexual acts" is changed to "gay sex." (8 App. 1960, 11 App. 2504.)
- ¶ 46 & Heading D: two instances of "email" or "emails" are changed to "e-mail" and "e-mails." The third "emails" is unchanged. (8 App. 1961, 11 App. 2504-05.)
- ¶¶ 47-48: two commas ending relative clauses are inexplicably deleted. (8 App. 1961, 11 App. 2505.)
- ¶ 49: the description of Mr. Halpin reporting bullying "to both Principal McKay and Vice Principal DePiazza" is deleted, leaving it unclear in the revised version to whom, if anyone, he made his report. (8 App. 1961, 11 App. 2505.)
- ¶ 51: "Dr. McKay" is changed to "He." (8 App. 1691, 11 App. 2505.)
- Heading F: "were" is (inadvertently) deleted, and a comma is (inexplicably) added: "administration were aware of, physical, and discriminatory bullying" (8 App. 1962, 11 App. 2506.)
- ¶ 57: "for in January 2012" is changed to "for the second semester, in January 2012" (8 App. 1963, 11 App. 2507.)
- ¶ 65: "in fact" is relocated to the beginning of the first sentence; the second and third sentences are combined:

<u>In fact</u>, this was[, in fact,] the only investigation done at Greenspun into the bullying of Ethan and Nolan. At trial, no one from <u>either</u> the school or the school district testified <u>either</u> to seeing any results of any earlier investigation[-], nor [was] <u>provided</u> any evidence obtained from any earlier investigation.... district court entered the *exact* same findings—verbatim—again. (*Compare* 8 App. 1955-64 *with* 10 App. 2498 – 11 App. 2508.) Specifically, it called for the parties to submit proposed post-remand findings. (10 App. 2373.) But plaintiffs did not identify any record support for such findings, and they proposed none, instead offering—with the minor changes detailed above—the same findings as before. (10 App. 2371; *supra* n.4.)

Plaintiffs next proposed a revised set of *legal conclusions* that effectively lowered the controlling standard for deliberate indifference down to meet the prior findings. (*See* 11 App. 2508:4-2516:10.) CCSD proposed revised conclusions and opposed the entry of plaintiffs' revised conclusions because they contradicted and diluted the legal standards set forth in this Court's opinion. (*See* 10 App. 2397.)

Over CCSD's objection, the district court accepted plaintiffs' revised conclusions and again entered judgment in their favor. (12 App. 2809.) It awarded each boy \$200,000 in damages—exactly as before and awarded \$470,418.75 in attorney fees and costs. The damages award again relied on plaintiffs' own speculative "estimation of out-ofpocket costs" and the unrelated federal-court settlement. (11 App.

⁽⁸ App. 1964, 11 App. 2507-08.)

2514:8, 2515:24-25.) Disregarding this Court's instruction not to rely on the settlement, the district court insisted that using it "as a benchmark for comparison in assessing damages was entirely proper." (11 App. 2515:23-25.)

CCSD appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Before the first appeal, the district court applied incorrect legal standards by suggesting that a violation of state anti-bullying statute constituted deliberate indifference as a matter of law.

Reversing, this Court held that "after reviewing the record, we cannot say that substantial evidence supports the district court's finding of deliberate indifference regardless of this error." *Bryan*, 136 Nev. at 699, 478 P.3d at 358 (emphasis added). It also held that the district court's prior findings "bypassed" the "key" factual questions concerning deliberate indifference and causation. *Id.* at 359. Accordingly, this Court repeatedly instructed the district court to make "additional findings"—if possible—on these questions. *Id.*⁵

⁵ *Id.* at 351 (remanding "for further findings on the Title IX claim"), 353 (calling for "findings regarding deliberate indifference under the applicable law"), 356 ("Further findings are necessary to establish deliberate

If any evidence had supported the "additional findings" this Court called for, plaintiffs would have proposed those findings, as their case depended on it. But plaintiffs were unable to muster any factual findings beyond those this Court had already said would not meet the stringent standard for deliberate indifference under Title IX.

In again deeming those findings sufficient for Title IX liability, the district court violated the mandate rule. That is, instead of revising the deficient factual findings upward to meet the standards articulated by this Court, it revised those standards downward to meet the deficient findings—and it did so through its revised conclusions of law. But the prior opinion did not invite the district court to devise new legal standards that would fit the original findings. Rather, this Court articulated the controlling standards and identified where and how the original findings failed to meet those standards. Thus, the district court's re-

indifference"), 359 (remanding "for additional findings as to whether the events following the October report constitute deliberate indifference under the applicable federal standards"), and 361 ("[W]e remand for additional findings as to whether the events following the October report demonstrate deliberate indifference.").

vised conclusions based on lowered standards merely attempt to overrule this Court's legal determinations with respect to the original findings.

But even if the district court were permitted to reanalyze the deliberate indifference and causation questions based solely on the original findings, these facts do not support Title IX liability.

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