Case No: 83557

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT (CCSD)

Appellant/Defendant.

v.

ETHAN BRYAN and NOLAN HAIRR,
Respondents/Plaintiffs,

Electronically Filed Sep 19 2022 07:28 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown District Court Case Perk of Supreme Court 700018-C

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada, The Honorable Nancy Allf, District Court Judge District Court Case No.: A-14-700018-C

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Allen Lichtenstein NV State Bar No. 3992 ALLEN LICHTENSTEIN, LTD. 3315 Russell Road, No. 222 Las Vegas, NV 89120 Tel: 702-525-6776 allaw@lvcoxmail.com

John Houston Scott
CA Bar No. 72578
Admitted Pro Hac Vice
SCOTT LAW FIRM

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

VII. Argument

- A. The District Court properly found Deliberate Indifference on the Part of Defendant.
 - 1. The District Court fulfilled the Mandate from the Nevada Supreme Court.

CCSD proffers the curious argument that because the District Court did not state any new findings of fact, it failed to adhere to the mandate of the appellate court on remand. This is disingenuous. As the June 16, 2021, Adoption of Plaintiff's Conclusions of Law states "the parties agreed on one set of findings of Finding of Fact and each party submitted a version of Conclusions of Law."

The Findings of Fact was stipulated to by the parties. The analysis of the deliberate indifference question occurred on pages 14-18 of the Conclusions of Law section. (ER, 2508-2516) The District Court concluded that "[e]ven in the absence of consideration of the violation of NRS 3.88.1351, Greenspun officials acted with Deliberate Indifference." (ER, 2516) Defendant's District Court failed to address the mandate on remand it is without substance or foundation.

This analysis did exactly what the Nevada Supreme Court had mandated.

While Defendant clearly did not like the results, The argument that the District

Court made no new findings is unsupported.

2. The Failure of Greenspun Officials to adequately address the Sexual Harassment was a Causal Factor in the Continuation of Bullying of Ethan and Nolan.

CCSD argues that the District Court failed to address the issue of causation. This too is incorrect. The Nevada Supreme Court had already ruled that the sexually oriented bullying that Ethan and Nolan were forced to endure was so severe as to deprive them of educational opportunities. 478 P.3d at 355. As this is a

case of student-on-student bullying, it might be incorrect to say that Greenspun officials were the primary cause of the bullying. That distinction goes to C. and D.

However, because no action was taken by the Greenspun officials who had the authority to remedy the situation, these officials turned a blind eye and allowed the bullying to continue. Thus, their inaction was clearly an important causal factor in the continuation of the bullying of Ethan and Nolan by C. and D.

This is not a question of whether the investigatory and remedial actions were effective. They were nonexistent.

3. The Prior Nevada Supreme Court Ruling Constitutes the Law of the Case.

In Nevada, the "law of the case doctrine states that "the law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." *Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860, 884, 34 P.3d 519, 535 (2001); *Walker v. State*, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34 (1969); *Graves v. State*, 84 Nev. 262, 439 P.2d 476 (1968); *State v. Loveless*, 62 Nev. 312, 150 P.2d 1015 (1944).

The law of the case doctrine "is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest." *Tien Fu Hsu v. Cty. of Clark*, 123 Nev. 625, 173 P.3d 724 (2007).

Federal courts have adopted three specific exceptions to the law of the case doctrine, concluding that a court may revisit a prior ruling when (1)

subsequent proceedings produce substantially new or different evidence, (2) there has been an intervening change in controlling law, or (3) the prior decision was clearly erroneous and would result in manifest injustice if enforced." *Tien Fu Hsu v. Cty. of Clark*, 123 Nev. 625, 630, 173 P.3d 724, 729 (2007). In the absence those three extraordinary circumstances, a court should be reluctant to revisit its prior decisions.

The doctrine allows for departure where clearly warranted. But generally, "there should be adherence to the prior ruling, for it is important that the type of issue involved be not subject to perpetual litigation. *Skil Corp. v. Millers Falls Co.*, 541 F.2d 554, 558 (6th Cir. 1976). The failure of a Court to abide by the rule of the case in circumstances where none of the exceptions apply, constitutes an abuse of discretion. *United States v. Phillips*, 356 F.3d 1086, 1095 (9th Cir. 2004).

Here, none of the exceptions apply. There was no new or different evidence.

There was no intervening change in controlling law. Nor was the prior decision clearly erroneous resulting in manifest injustice if enforced.

The remand was narrowly focused addressing only one component of Title IX liability, the question of whether Defendant's actions and/or inactions after October 2011 constituted deliberate indifference by being objectively unreasonable under the extent circumstances known at that time. In its appeal, however, Defendant improperly takes issue with conclusions reached by the prior panel.

4. Deliberate Indifference Standards

Deliberate indifference is "the conscious or reckless disregard of the consequences of one's acts or omissions." *Henkle*, at 1078. It occurs where the recipient's response to the harassment or lack thereof is clearly unreasonable in light of the known circumstances." *Reese*, at 739.

It must, at a minimum, "cause students to undergo harassment or make them liable or vulnerable to it." *Id.*, *citing Davis v. Monroe County Bd. Of Educ.*, 526 U.S. 629,645 (1999). "[I]f an institution either fails to act or acts in a way which could not have reasonably been expected to remedy the violation, then the institution is liable for what amounts to an official decision not to end discrimination. *Gebser v. Lago Vista Ind. School Dist.*, 524 U.S. 274, 290 (1998); *See, Jane Doe A v. Green*, 298 F. Supp. 2d 1025, 1035 (D. Nev. 2004).

Deliberate indifference is a fact sensitive inquiry. *Garcia v. Clovis Unified Sch. Dist.*, 627 F. Supp. 2d 1187, 1196 (E.D. Cal. 2009); *Oden v. N. Marianas Coll.*, 440 F.3d 1085, 1089 (9th Cir. 2006). The question of deliberate indifference on the part of school officials is a matter that is generally left to the jury. *Jane Doe A v. Green, supra*.

Whether a response was clearly unreasonable depends on the time it took the district to respond to complaints, the level of response, the effort expended to respond to the allegations, and the efficacy of the response. *See, Zeno v. Pine*

Plains Cent. Sch. Dist., 702 F.3d 655, 669-71 (2d Cir. 2012); Nissen v. Cedar Falls Cmty. Sch. Dist., No. 20-CV-2098-CJW-MAR, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 51959, at *20-22 (N.D. Iowa Mar. 23,2022).

A reasonable factfinder may properly find deliberate indifference when a school district "ignored the many signals that greater, more directed action was needed." *Zeno*, 702 F.3d at 671.

Whether gender-oriented conduct rises to the level of actionable "harassment" thus "depends on a constellation of surrounding circumstances, expectations, and relationships," *Oncale*, 523 U.S. at 82, including, but not limited to, the ages of the harasser and the victim and the number of individuals involved.

"By the same token, the mere fact that a school does 'something' in response to a harassment claim does not *per se* insulate it from liability under Title IX." *Doe v. Rutherford Cty.*, No. 3:13-cv-00328, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114477, at *41 (M.D. Tenn. Aug. 18, 2014).

"[W]here a school district has knowledge that its remedial action is inadequate and ineffective, it is required to take reasonable action in light of those circumstances to eliminate the behavior. Where a school district has actual knowledge that its efforts to remediate are ineffective, and it continues to use those same methods to no avail, such district has failed to act reasonably in light of the known circumstances." *Id.* The Supreme Court and the Sixth Circuit have also approvingly cited the Office of Civil Rights' Title IX Guidelines, which state that, in response to known sexual harassment, a district "should take immediate and appropriate steps to investigate or

otherwise determine what occurred and take steps reasonably calculated to end any harassment, eliminate a hostile environment, and prevent harassment from occurring again." *Vance*, 231 F.3d at 261 n. 5 (quoting 62 Fed Reg. 12034, 12042 (1997)).

Doe v. Rutherford Cty., No. 3:13-cv-00328, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114477, at *41 (M.D. Tenn. Aug. 18, 2014); see also, Vance v. Spencer Cty. Pub. Sch. Dist., 231 F.3d 253, 259-60 (6th Cir. 2000).

The mere fact that a school does "something" in response to a harassment claim does not *per se* insulate it from liability under Title IX. *Id*.

5. Because Greenspun Administrators who Knew about the Bullying had the Authority to Remedy the Situation, this is not a case of Vicarious Liability.

CCSD argues that because the deliberate indifference issue focuses on the Greenspun administrators who had the authority to investigate and remedy the bullying situation, rather than personnel at the district level, the claim is one for vicarious liability. This is clearly false and unsupportable.

In making the vicarious liability argument, CCSD fails to acknowledge the fact that this Court has already made the prior ruling that "because the administrators had the ability to address the bullying and institute corrective measures, we conclude CCSD had actual notice for purposes of Title IX." 478 P.3d at 356, citing Reese at 739. ("damages may not be recovered unless an official who at a minimum has authority to address the alleged discrimination and to institute corrective measures on the recipient's behalf has actual knowledge of

discrimination.") *see also*, *Gebser*, at 290. Unlike with 42 USC 1983, no final ultimate decision maker need be notified as long as notice was given to individuals who had the authority to remedy the situation.

6. Greenspun Officials Behavior Went Far Beyond Mere Negligence.

Title IX deliberate indifference requires more than mere negligence. If school officials take timely and reasonable measures to end the harassment, there is no liability under Title IX. *Takla v. Regents of the Univ. of Cal.*, No. 2:15-CV-04418-CAS (SHx), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 150587 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 2, 2015).

Liability for a Title IX violation occurs when "an institution either fails to act or acts in a way which could not have reasonably been expected to remedy the violation.;" then the institution is liable for what amounts to an official decision not to end discrimination." *Doe v. Cal. Inst. of Tech.*, No. 2:18-cv-09178-SVW-JEM, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 169672 at *8 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 30, 2019) ("The administrative enforcement scheme presupposes that an official who is advised of a Title IX violation refuses to take action to bring the recipient into compliance. The premise, in other words, is an official decision by the recipient not to remedy the violation." *Id*.

This is what happened here. The Greenspun administrators' failure to address the sexually oriented bullying of Ethan and Nolan was not an accident or a careless mistake. Principal McKay, Vice Principal DePiazza, and Dean Winn all

chose to shirk their responsibility. It was not mere negligence, but rather, deliberate indifference.

7. Greenspun Officials' Behavior Amounted to Deliberate Indifference.

Here, appropriate school officials had notice of the existence and nature of the bullying suffered by Ethan and Nolan. *See*, *Gebser*, at 290. The Court in *Warren v. Reading Sch. Dist.*, 278 F.3d 163, 169-70 (3d Cir. 2002) stated that the school Principal was the appropriate person for Title IX purposes.

In *Murrell v. Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 186 F.3d 1238, 1247 (10th Cir. 1999), the Court considered an individual who exercises substantial control, for Title IX purposes, to be anyone with the authority to take remedial action.

In the instant case, several Greenspun personnel testified that they had authority to take remedial disciplinary actions when appropriate. Dean Winn testified that campus discipline was one of her primary responsibilities.

Principal McKay testified that he, Vice Principal DePiazza and Dean Winn, were the school administrators. As such, they were primarily responsible for matters of discipline. Moreover, they all received regular training.

Dr. McKay testified that he delegated the responsibility for discipline to Mr. DePiazza. (Warren P. McKay, Day 4, at 186)

Vice Principal DePiazza testified that while Dean Winn handled most of the disciplinary issues, he was responsible for her as her supervisor. (Leonard

DePiazza, Day, at 35) Mr. DePiazza also testified that Dean Winn was tasked with dealing with most disciplinary issues.

Principal McKay verified that he had the ultimate responsibility and authority for discipline and investigations of bullying within the school, but that he had delegated it to Dean Winn through her supervisor Vice Principal DePiazza.

That appropriate persons at Greenspun were apprised of the bullying and of the sexual nature of that bullying was verified by the testimony of Nolan's and Ethan's mothers. Nolan's mother Aimee Hairr testified that she clearly explained this to Vice Principal DePiazza in her September 22, 2015, conversation with him.

In the October 19, 2011, meeting Mary Bryan and her husband had with Dean Winn, Ethan's parents were quite explicit in recounting not only the physical assault that Ethan endured the day before, as stated in Mary's October 19, 2011, email, but also of the vile homophobic slurs that Ethan and Nolan were constantly being subjected to.

Thus, by October 19, 2011, at the latest, the three Greenspun Junior High School administrators responsible for investigation of bullying and for discipline, Vice Principal DePiazza and Dean Winn had actual notice of the verbal and physical sexual harassment and bullying that Ethan and Nolan were being subjected to in Mr. Beasley's band class.

As noted above, both the District Court and the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that CCSD was on notice for Title IX purposes because Greenspun administrative officials who had authority to remedy the situation, specifically Principal John McKay, Vice Principal Leonard DePiazza, and Dean Winn, all clearly had knowledge of the bullying of Nolan and Ethan by C and D by October 19, 2011. That was the day that Mary Bryan sent an e-mail and met with Dean Winn.

In so doing, Mary laid out in considerable detail the sexual harassment and bullying that Ethan and Nolan were continually being subjected to. (ER, 2504)

That same day the sexual harassment and bullying of Ethan and Nolan was discussed at an administrator's meeting attended by both Principal McKay and Vice Principal DePiazza. (ER, 2505) It was there that Principal McKay tasked Mr. DePiazza with investigating and remedying the matter. However, no investigation or any other action was undertaken by school officials until February 2012. (ER. 2507)

By then, both Ethan and Nolan had been removed from Greenspun because the bullying had caused each of these children to engage in and contemplate self-harm. After they were removed for their own safety, a complaint to police prompted the District to get involved. This is not a question of vicarious liability. Instead, the liability is predicated on the fact that post October 19, 2011, Greenspun officials took absolutely no action to investigate or to remedy the

situation, even though they were on notice of the problem. This was the ruling by both the District Court and the Nevada Supreme Court and is the law of the case.

The one question the first panel found unresolved by the District Court in the first appeal was whether under all the extent facts and circumstances the actual actions and inactions of Greenspun administrators reached the level of deliberate indifference beyond any per se violation of the applicable statute.

The Court noted that "although the violation of a statute, regulation, or policy may inform a finding of deliberate indifference, the state law violation could not constitute *per se* deliberate indifference." 478 P.3d at 358. Thus, the Court remanded the case back to the District Court "for additional findings as to whether the events following the October report constituted deliberate indifference under the applicable federal standards."

8. No Investigation was Undertaken by Greenspun Officials in 2011.

Greenspun administrators' failure to adhere their duties, as spelled out in the NRS, while not deliberate indifference bear on the issue. NRS 388.1351 requires that the administrator or designee immediately address the issue. These actions include immediately commencing an investigation that includes a written report of the findings and conclusions of the investigation, contact with parents of all pupils involved, and appropriate remedial action. None of this was done.

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